COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GLENDA NISSEN, an individual,

Respondent,

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners Pierce County and Pierce County Prosecutor's Office ("County") seek review by the Supreme Court of the published Court of Appeals opinion terminating review referenced in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division II, filed its published opinion on September 9, 2014. A copy of that opinion is in the Appendix at pages A-1 and A-15.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- (1) Is the record of a public employee's private communications device a "public record" within the meaning of RCW 42.56.010(3) and subject to production against that employee's wishes under the Public Records Act, RCW 42.56 ("PRA")?
- (2) Is the record of a public employee's private communications device, even if a public record, exempted from disclosure under RCW 42.56.050/42.56.230 and applicable constitutional protections, thereby barring its disclosure?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals opinion here offers a recitation of the facts and procedure in this case that contains a flawed premise from the outset concerning Pierce County Prosecutor Mark Lindquist's ("Prosecutor") treatment of records from his personal cell phone. Op. at 1-5. The court makes two particularly egregious factual misstatements in its FACTS and

ANALYSIS sections. The Court states that the Prosecutor "preferred" to "use his personal cellular phone to conduct government business," op. at 2, and that the County "conceded" that some of the Prosecutor's "personal cellular call logs contained records of his government-related communications and that some of his personal cellular text messages discussed government business." Op. at 8. Neither statement is accurate.

First, the claim that the Prosecutor "preferred" to use his personal communications devices to conduct government business implies he was doing so to circumvent the PRA and is false, belied by the record in this case. In making this statement, the court apparently relied on Nissen's baseless assertions. *See, e.g.*, Br. of Appellant at 3; CP 5-6. This statement is *directly refuted* by the record developed for the County's CR 12(b)(6) motion and the Prosecutor's motion to enjoin disclosures.²

Moreover, as will be developed more fully *infra*, the Prosecutor is an elected official whose political calls *had to be made* on his personal

As will be noted *infra*, the Court of Appeals uses the term "government business" from RCW 42.56.010(2) without defining it. This lack of precision is a critical flaw in the opinion.

² See, e.g., CP 234, 258, 681-83 (the Prosecutor's emails, County directory, and declaration of his personal assistant expressly list the County's traditional land line for official calls to and from him at the County-City Building – i.e. "253.798.7792" – and it was on his "two County land line telephones assigned for his use" that he "conducted... most of his government related communications"), CP 453 (Prosecutor's sworn declaration attests he only "occasionally used my personal cellular telephone for county business").

communications devices under ethical standards for elected officials. RCW 42.17A.555(1); RCW 42.52.180(1). Thus, use of his personal communications device as to at least some communications was not a matter of preference, but rather *mandated by law*, a point the Court of Appeals failed to recognize in stating such calls related to "government business."

Second, the Court of Appeals' repeated claim that the County "conceded" the Prosecutor's calls pertained to the business of government misstates the record here.³ Rather, in a surplus of openness, in response to Nissen's multiple PRA requests, the Prosecutor authorized the release of records of calls that "*may* be work related." CP 16, 82, 86, 217, 334-38, 340-350, 441, 445-46.⁴ Indeed, the Prosecutor and the County consistently asserted this fact, at both the trial and on appeal, and nowhere "conceded" that any of the private records *actually* "contained records of his government-related communications" or "discussed government

 $^{^3}$ The Court of Appeals reiterated this assertion throughout its opinion. E.g., op. at 2, 10, 12.

⁴ The Court of Appeals also makes a simple factual error in its opinion as to when the Prosecutor disclosed the records, stating these personal cell phone records were provided during the mediation of Nissen's separate whistleblower action. Op. at 2. This is mistaken. Indeed, even Nissen claimed only that records for "the County provided cell phone were produced in a whistleblower complaint mediation..." Br. of Appellant at 3; CP 7-8. The Prosecutor's redacted *personal* cell phone records were not produced at the mediation, but were actually produced in response to Nissen's later PRA requests that are at issue here. CP 14-15, 17, 82, 490, 597-98. Indeed, the records were requested after the whistleblower matter was resolved.

business." *Compare* CP 521; Br. of Resp't at 4, 26; County's Resp. to A.G. Amici at 3, 15; Br. of Intervenor at 2; Intervenor's Resp. to Amici at 1, 8.

Critically, despite the Prosecutor's appeal of the injunction motion, CP 494; Br. of Intervenor at 33-36, the Court of Appeals reviewed only the order on the County's CR 12(b)(6) order. For the latter motion, courts generally must accept factual assertions made in the plaintiff's complaint as true, that is only *for purposes of the CR 12(b)(6) motion. Future-Select Portfolio Management, Inc. v. Tremont Group Holdings, Inc.*, 180 Wn.2d 954, 331 P.3d 29, 34 (2014) ("we presume without deciding" a complaint's allegations for purposes of CR 12(b)(6) analysis); *Parks v. Fink*, 173 Wn. App. 366, 378, 293 P.3d 1275, *review denied*, 177 Wn.2d 1025 (2013) (same). The Court of Appeals opinion gave inordinate credence to Nissen's baseless facts, while ignoring the facts adduced in connection with the Prosecutor's injunction motion.⁵

⁵ The Court of Appeals' inclusion of Nissen's contested allegations in the "FACTS" section without noting they were directly contested and repeating those allegations as unassailable facts thereafter, unintentionally conveys to a trial court, should a remand be necessary, that it must accept them because the Court of Appeals labeled them as facts, despite contrary evidence that will be adduced by the County in the trial court.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED⁶

Review of the Court of Appeals' published opinion by this Court is merited because that court declined to address in its published opinion any of the significant legal issues presented by this case. The Court of Appeals' treatment of the PRA conflicts with decisions of this Court and other divisions of the Court of Appeals in the definition of a public record under the PRA. The Prosecutor himself is not an agency, the County never prepared, retained, or used the records, and the records were never used by the County in the conduct of government. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1-2).

With respect to the exemptions from disclosure, under RCW 42.56.050/RCW 42.56.230, should the Court conclude that the records of a public employee's private communications device are public records under the PRA, state and federal constitutional issues are implicated and review is merited under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Perhaps most critically, whether dealing with the issues under RCW 42.56.010(3) or RCW 42.56.050/RCW 42.56.230, these issues are also of significant public importance and require ultimate determination by this Court. The significance of this case to all public employees in

 $^{^{\}rm 6}$ This Court is fully familiar with the criteria for review set forth in RAP 13.4(b).

Washington is manifest from the broad array of amici briefs in the Court of Appeals. *Every public employee in Washington* is affected by the Court of Appeals opinion. Moreover, the case is not confined to cell phone records alone. *All private communications devices*, whether they are home computers, tablets, cell phones, or public employees, are affected.

The issue of the PRA and the records of public employees' private communications devices will arise again in cases already in our court system. ⁷ It is also the type of issue that public agencies in Washington will confront again repeatedly in the future as requesters are emboldened by the Court of Appeals' opinion to demand public employees' records from their private communications devices of every sort. Conflicting lower court decisions are not only possible, but probable, until this Court articulates the appropriate rule. This Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

(1) The Court of Appeals Decision

The trial court here granted the County's CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss Nissen's complaint in which she alleged that the County violated the PRA when it did not produce the private cell phone records of the

⁷ The issue of whether the private records of a public official are subject to the PRA has arisen in *Althea v. City of Bainbridge Island*, (Court of Appeals Cause No. 46381-4-II – argued September 17, 2014); *West v. Vermillion*, (Pierce County Cause No. 14-2-05483-7 – partial summary judgment granted July 25, 2014, motion to reconsider argued on September 19, 2014).

Prosecutor.⁸ The Court of Appeals reversed that decision for "the further development of the record." Op. at 12 n.16.

The Court of Appeals' opinion recites the nature of the records at issue here -- call detail logs for the Prosecutor's personal cell phone and copies of text messages from that phone. Op. at 7-8. The court ignored the fact that neither the Prosecutor nor the County ever possessed the text messages; they were possessed by Verizon Wireless. CP 15-16, 58, 81, 251, 444-46, 597-98, 616-18. The court references a key definitional provision in RCW 42.56.010(3) relating to the conduct of government business without ever defining government business. Op. at 8-10. It discusses another aspect of that definitional statute, use or retention by a government agency. Op. at 10-12. It determines the key issue as to whether the Prosecutor himself was an "agency" as defined in the PRA only in a cursory footnote. Op. at 11 n.15. It then remands the issue to the trial court to develop a record, without deciding if the PRA has been violated. Op. at 12-15. Ultimately, the Court of Appeals' opinion does not answer the key legal questions presented by the case; it merely

⁸ The trial court, the Honorable Christine Pomeroy, was an experienced trial court judge in the Thurston County Superior Court. The trial court reasoned that private cell phone records of a public employee are not public records within the meaning of RCW 42.56.010(3) or are exempted from disclosure by virtue of constitutional privacy standards. Op. at 5 n.9.

reverses the trial court without careful analysis as to why the trial court's decision was actually erroneous.

Left unaddressed by the Court of Appeals published opinion are numerous vital, practical questions:

- (1) Will the hearing on remand to determine if any of the records are indeed public records under the PRA be an *in camera* proceeding? See Wash. Const. art. I, § 10. This is not discussed anywhere in the Court of Appeals opinion.
- (2) Does the fact that the County reviewed some of the Prosecutor's records solely to determine if they fell within the PRA constitute the County's "use" of the records within the meaning of RCW 42.56.010(3), thereby making them subject to the PRA? The Court of Appeals evades this issue. Op. at 12 n.16.
- (3) Are the records of the Prosecutor's private cell phone exempted from disclosure and production by the County where, as a matter of law under RCW 42.56.050/RCW 42.56.230, federal statutory provisions govern certain telecommunications records, and constitutional protections apply to the Prosecutor's private records. barring their production? The Court of Appeals does not address either issue, even though the latter issue was an express basis for the trial court's CR 12(b)(6) ruling. Op. at 13.

This Court should grant review to address and resolve the significant issues presented in this case. The County addresses in turn each of the issues touching upon whether the records at issue here are public records under RCW 42.56.010(3), and, even if public records, their

disclosure is precluded as a matter of law under RCW 42.56.050/RCW 42.56.230 and constitutional principles.

(2) The Records at Issue Here Are Not Public Records under the PRA

RCW 42.56.010(3)⁹ defines a public record as a writing "relating to the conduct of government" that is "prepared, owned, used, or retained" by a governmental agency. The Court of Appeals decision is contrary to decisions of this Court and other decisions of the Court of Appeals on what constitutes a public record, meriting review by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1-2).

Only public records must be disclosed under the PRA. Smith v. Okanogan County, 100 Wn. App. 7, 12, 994 P.2d 857 (2000). Purely personal records of public employees are not subject to the PRA. Yacobellis v. City of Bellingham, 55 Wn. App. 706, 712, 780 P.2d 272, review denied, 114 Wn.2d 1002 (1989) (personal notes, phone messages,

⁹ RCW 42.56.010 is set forth in the Appendix.

The burden to identify with some precision the public record being sought rests with the requester. RCW 42.56.080 (requiring requester to reference "identifiable public records"). While an overly broad request does not justify a rejection of the request, RCW 42.56.080, *Hangartner v. City of Seattle*, 151 Wn.2d 439, 449, 90 P.3d 26 (2004), it is indicative of the fact that Nissen's requests for the Prosecutor's cell records were a "fishing expedition." The Court of Appeals was compelled to reinterpret Nissen's broad requests for *all* of Lindquist's private cell phone records, CP 15, 17, 29, as being confined to those records that are "work-related." Op. at 2-4. This only reinforces the point that PRA requests to elected officials and other public figures will be routinely abused by requesters.

and personal appointment calendars); Forbes v. City of Gold Bar, 171 Wn. App. 857, 868-69, 288 P.3d 384 (2012), review denied, 177 Wn.2d 1002 (2013) (purely personal emails exempt). The Court of Appeals recognized this distinction, op. at 7, but failed to address the key provisions of RCW 42.56.010, defining the scope of public records subject to the PRA.

A public record subject to the PRA is present if (1) it is a writing; (2) it contains information relating to the conduct of government or performance of governmental or proprietary functions; and (3) it is prepared, owned, used, or retained by a government agency. RCW 42.56.010(3). A "writing" and "agency" are defined respectively in RCW 42.56.010(4) and (1). "Conduct of government" and "preparation, ownership, use, or retention" have been addressed in case law.

First, the Prosecutor himself is not an "agency" within the meaning of RCW 42.56.010(1). The language of RCW 42.56.010(1) is explicit. Nowhere in its definition of an agency does it address private records maintained by *individuals*. Division II's cursory treatment of this issue in a footnote, op. at 11 n.15, is inconsistent with its treatment of an agency in *Worthington v. WestNET*, 179 Wn. App. 788, 320 P.3d 721, *review granted*, 180 Wn.2d 1021 (2014) where it strictly applied the language in RCW 42.56.010(1) to conclude that a regional task force formed to

combat drug-related crime in Western Washington with its own policy board was not an agency under the PRA.

The Court of Appeals decision in *West v. Thurston County*, 168 Wn. App. 162, 275 P.3d 1200 (2012) also strictly construed the requirement of agency involvement. There, a county's private attorneys were held not to be agents of the county in preparing their private billing invoices. *Id.* at 183-84. The Court of Appeals' cursory treatment of whether the Prosecutor was a RCW 42.56.010(1) agency merits review. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Second, the County never used or retained the Prosecutor's cell phone text records because the Prosecutor himself never possessed the records at the time of the requests. Only his service provider, Verizon, possessed the records. Both state and federal law forbid the disclosure of personal telephone records without customer consent. RCW 9.26A.140(1)(d); 18 U.S.C. § 2703. Further, left unaddressed by the Court of Appeals' opinion is *Denver Post Corp. v. Ritter*, 255 P.3d 1083 (Col. 2011), a case in which the Colorado Supreme Court held that the governor did not even create a public record by participating in phone calls that resulted in billing statements, *id.* at 1091, and the cell phone service provider actually possessed whatever records were at issue. *See also*,

West, 168 Wn. App. at 183 (county never owned, possessed, used, or retained billing records of its retained counsel).

Further, the County never "used" the billing records that the Prosecutor chose to provide when its legal staff reviewed such records to determine if they were subject to disclosure under the PRA. As noted supra, the Court of Appeals declined to reach that issue, but it is important to address the issue nonetheless. To hold that otherwise private records are "used" by an agency simply by referring to them in an effort to respond in good faith to a PRA request, even if the employee does not believe the records are public, is a perversion of the Act. It would allow requesters to make baseless PRA requests for private records and, when an agency reviewed the record, to claim the PRA was now applicable. This is a "Gotcha" argument. It only provides a further disincentive to a public employee from erring on the side of openness, as did the Prosecutor. The employee would be compelled to refuse any request by his/her public employer to produce private records to even assess whether they might be work-related to avoid the contention that federal statutory or constitutional exemptions she/he could legitimately claim for such records were inapplicable. Review on this question is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Finally, a vital part of the definition of a record under RCW 42.56.010(3) is that the record must pertain to the conduct of government.

As noted *supra*, the Court of Appeals nowhere addresses what this term means. The Court merely stated: the Prosecutor "is an elected official in charge of a local government agency -- the Pierce County Prosecutor's Office." Op. at 10. It *presumed*, without analysis, that the conduct of government was implicated by the Prosecutor's private cell phone records. The Court of Appeals did not address the requirement set forth in this Court's decision in *Concerned Ratepayers Ass'n v. Pub. Util. Dist.*No. 1 of Clark County, 138 Wn.2d 950, 960-61, 983 P.2d 635 (1999) that to meet the "government conduct" aspect of the definition of a public record, the record must have a nexus to agency decisionmaking. Nissen has never articulated in her fishing expedition PRA request, nor her pleadings, how any of the Prosecutor's private cell phone records pertain in any way to County decisionmaking.

This issue is of particular concern for elected officials. The "conduct of government," broadly defined, could mean their activities associated with their election and political activities apart from their election are subject to the PRA.¹² Such activities could not be undertaken

¹¹ Plainly, personal cell phone records contain personal information.

Political opponents could use the PRA and the legal system to obtain information on elected officials' campaign activities by seeking the records of their private communications devices, and perhaps those of their campaigns, in the hope of finding records on the conduct of government business among them, opening yet another venue for political combat.

by the elected official on governmentally-issued communications devices without violating ethical standards.¹³ This issue merits review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

In sum, the records at issue here did not qualify as public records under the definition in RCW 42.56.010(3). This Court should grant review of the published Court of Appeals decision. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

(3) Even If the Prosecutor's Cell Phone Records Are Public Records, and They Are Not, the Records Are Exempt from Disclosure

Although it addresses an exemption issue raised by amici, op. at 9 n.12, the Court of Appeals opinion neglects to address the specific statutory and constitutional grounds that exempt the Prosecutor's records

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