RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Nov 05, 2014, 4:26 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK



No. 90875-3

# IN THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT (No. 44852-1-II COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION TWO)

GLENDA NISSEN, an individual,

Respondent,

v.

PIERCE COUNTY, a public agency; PIERCE COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE, a public agency,

Petitioners

v.

PROSECUTOR MARK LINDQUIST,

Petitioner

#### NISSEN'S ANSWER TO PETITIONS FOR REVIEW

Michele Earl-Hubbard, WSBA #26454 Allied Law Group P.O. Box 33744 Seattle, WA 98133 Phone (206) 801-7510 Fax: (206) 428-7169

ALLIED LAW GROUP

Attorneys for Respondent Glenda Nissen



###

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

This case is not about the ballpark janitor husband who texts his wife complaining about garbage at the ballpark or the prosecutor wife texting her husband that she will be late for dinner because of work, nor the other innocuous uses discussed by Petitioners. This case further does not prevent agencies from allowing employees to use personal devices to save on costs so long as employees follow the Model Rule guidelines and retain and forward work-related texts and records to the agency for production. If an employee took steps to either not use a personal device for work business or to assure the work-related records were forwarded to an agency location, there would not be the risk of intrusions Petitioners allege because the employee would have provided the public record to the agency to produce without need of his or her personal device or records.

This is a case about a lawyer who surely knew the implications of using his personal cell for agency business (see, e.g. CP 1-9 and the two O'Neill and one Mechling decisions) yet did so anyway, intentionally, leaving the government cell in the drawer unused and not forwarding the work-related records to the agency for production. Instead, he deleted texts from his phone as soon as one day after they were sent (compare CP 322, showing request for 8/2/11 texts was made on 8/3/11, and the County and Intervenor's claims these texts were deleted and could not be produced contained throughout their briefing) and took no steps at the time to provide a copy to the agency. If Lindquist had brought in his personal laptop to prepare all of his official records for the agency ignoring the government-provided desktop computer sitting on his desk, a court would likely have no trouble finding that intentional—and unnecessary—usage of a personal device did not preclude those records from becoming "public records" under the three part test. Lindquist's intentional—and unnecessary—usage of his personal cell for his work-related calls and texts similarly cannot prevent these records from being public records.

#### C. The Records Here are Public Records.

Turning to the remaining two parts to the test for public records – both sets of records "contain[] information regarding the conduct government or the performance of any governmental or proprietary

function". RCW 42.56.010(3), the second part of the test. The phone records show the dates, times, duration and numbers called by Lindquist or the dates, times, duration and numbers of calls received by Lindquist all of which he concedes were work-related calls. The text messages will show the actual texts sent by Lindquist or received by Lindquist which he again concedes are work-related texts. Thus both sets of records contain "information" regarding the conduct of government as they contain information about the elected prosecutor's performance of official duties.

If these records are either "prepared," "owned," "used" or "retained" by the agency, then they are public records regardless of the nature of the device on which they were created, used, or retained.

#### 1. The Text Messages

Agencies act through the actions of their employees and officials. While an agency might "own" or "retain" a record as an entity, an entity cannot really "prepare" or "use" a record except through the actions of the individuals who run and make up the agency. Thus an agency can "use" a record when the elected head of the agency "uses" that record. And the agency "prepares" the record when the elected official prepares the record.

Here, Lindquist prepared the work-related texts he sent, and he "used" the work-related texts he received. As the agency acts through its officials, Lindquist's preparation of the texts and use of the texts is

preparation and use by the agency. Further, Lindquist's receipt of texts by others within the agency, or sending of texts to others in the agency, mean that others within the agency, beyond Lindquist, have prepared or used the same texts, and their actions are also the acts of the agency. If the other recipients or senders used their government-provided cell, instead of a personal one as Lindquist did, the agency further might have direct retention of the texts as well as clear ownership of the texts as the agency owns the texts sent and received from the agency-provided cell phones. (Since the case was decided on a CR 12(b)(6) motion before any factual development, the record on these issues has not been developed, making remand as Division Two has ordered appropriate.)

Also, Nissen has argued, and Petitioners have not effectively rebutted, that Lindquist, as the elected prosecutor is the "office" of the Prosecutor and so Lindquist is the "agency". RCW 42.56.010(1); Br. of App. at 29-34. In this case, as Lindquist is the elected prosecutor – the head of the agency, the speaking agent for the agency, the one who decides what the agency will and will not do, and the one through which the agency acts, Lindquist is "any office ... thereof" of the local agency that is the Prosecuting Attorney's Office, and thus under RCW 42.56.010(1), Lindquist is the agency. Lindquist clearly "owns" the text messages sent or received on his personal cell. And as he is the "agency",

the "agency" in this case also owns them as well. (The agency may also retain and own them by virtue of their having been sent to an agency-provided cell phone or from an agency-provided cell phone, a fact that was not explored due to the CR 12(b)(6) dismissal that has now been overturned..)

The records have also been retained at both Lindquist's and the County's specific direction, (see CP 47-48, 59, 65, 90-99,111-113, 251, 617-18, 798-801; Lindquist's Petition at 2 n.1) and thus the records have also been "retained" by the agency.

A court need only find one of the verbs to have been met—prepared, owned, used or retained. Prepared and used cannot be questioned. The ownership issue is also established making the arguments related to unauthorized access meritless. Lindquist knew that by choosing to use his personal cell to send work-related texts and by refusing to use the government-provided cell phone or to forward the texts to a government cell or server for storage, that he was creating a public record on his personal cell and that he could be made to provide those texts to the agency if they were requested. (See, e.g., CP 1-9.) Lindquist created the problem about which he now complains. It could have been avoided had he but used his government-provided cell or forwarded the work-related texts to a government server or device for retention and production.

Lindquist cannot deliberately create public records on his personal device and then complain that he now must provide access to them.

#### 2. The Cell Phone Records

The cell phone records are also "owned" by Lindquist, and as above, as Lindquist is the agency the agency owns the records. Lindquist at the time of the request "retained" the records as there were a number of PRA requests some of which came after copies had been obtained. CP 173 (confirms on 8/12/11 that PRO Glass has in her possession unredacted billing records and is determining what portions are exempt), CP 175 (confirms on 8/18/11 that the County is determining what calls are work-related in those unredacted bills), CP 308-320 (8/29/11 and 9/13/11 requests for unredacted phone records and correspondence with Glass re same). The records need not have been prepared or used by Lindquist to be a public record as they were owned, and only one verb is required to be shown to apply.

But as to the cell phone bills a court need not even reach the issue of whether or not Lindquist is the agency or whether the agency owned the records because in this case the agency actually possessed the unredacted billing records at a time a PRA request for them was issued. See CP 173-175, 308-320. Thus the agency itself "retained" the records at that time and the agency also "used" those records to assess the application of the

PRA and a PRA request for them and to perform redactions. CP 173-175, 308-320, 441, 445 and Correct. Br. of Resp. at 4.

The record is clear the agency <u>did</u> possess unredacted billing records. The Public Records Officer in a sworn declaration admitted she reviewed the unredacted records to redact the "personal calls." See CP 445 and Corrected Br. of Respond. at 4. Lindquist voluntarily brought in his unredacted records to allow the agency to review them. <u>See, e.g.</u>, CP 173, 175, 445 and Correct. Br. of Respond. at 4. This is not surprising. Nissen's own personal cell phone records had been requested in a PRA request during the litigation, and Nissen had committed to production. CP 149-150, 248-249. And at a 7/26/11 mediation with former Pierce County Prosecutor Ladenburg acting as mediator the County and Lindquist had been advised by Ladenburg that the records were public records if they contained work calls and should be released. CP 1-9.

# D. The Constitutional and Federal Statutory Restriction Arguments Do Not Bar Production Here.

Petitioners allege constitutional violations by access to or production of the text messages or phone records, but those arguments ignore the precise facts at issue here. The agency did not search Lindquist's garbage or invade his home or tap his phone to retrieve these records. The agency did not seize his phone and pretend to be him and communicate with

others. Lindquist voluntarily brought in his cell phone records with the consent that work-related records be released, and both he and the agency have secured the text messages on the Verizon servers should those be deemed to be public records. CP 47-48, 59, 65, 90-99, 111-113, 251, 617-18, 798-801. Lindquist has not actually said he would refuse to authorize access to the text messages if found to be public records, and it is reasonable to expect the elected prosecutor, who created this problem for his agency by not retaining the texts on his device or using his government-provided cell to send and receive them in the first place, would facilitate access to these conceded work-related texts should they be held to be public records. A trial court has the right to perform an in camera review of the records to determine if they are records subject to disclosure or not. This Court should not accept review to address the broad Constitutional arguments and claims, some made below only by Amici, when the subject here provided the cell records and has never been faced with a request or order by the court to allow for their in camera review.

1. The Stored Communications Act Does Not Prevent In Camera Review or an Order to Lodge Records with the Court.

The Stored Communications Act (SCA) does not prevent in camera review or an order to lodge the records with the trial court for in camera review. Text data stored exclusively with a third party provider is not

shielded from discovery under the SCA. Theofel v. Farey-Jones, 359 F.3d 1066 (2003), Crispin v. Christian Audigier, Inc., 717 F.Supp. 2d 965 (C.D. Cal. 2010), and "A User's Guide to the Stored Communications Act, and A Legislator's Guide to Amending It" Orin S. Kerr, 72 Geo. Wash. L. Rev. 1208, 2003-2004. "Remote computing service" ("RCS") data does not have the same privacy protections as data kept by an e-mail service provider. RCS may be accessed via a court order, rather than under the more stringent standards applicable to electronic communication services ("ECS"). 18 U.S.C. §§ 2703(b), 2703(d); Low v. LinkedIn Corp., 900 F.Supp. 2d 1010 (2012). A "remote computing service" is defined in the SCA as "the provision to the public of computer storage or processing services by means of an electronic communications system." 18 U.S.C. §2711(2). The 16 work-related texts at issue in this case have been read by Lindquist and now are stored at Verizon separately from any phone bills. They are governed by the rules for RCS, and not the rules for ECS. 18 U.S.C. §§ 2702(a)(2), 2703(b), see also **Steve Jackson Games**, Inc. v. U.S. Secret Serv., 36 F.3d 457, 461-463 (5th Cir. 1994). Content retained beyond 180 days is treated under distinct provisions from those held 180 days or less. 18 U.S.C. § 2703(a). Lindquist has stored the texts with Verizon for more than 180 days. The data has not expired in the normal course, meaning the ECS standard is not applicable and the RCS standard is controlling. A warrant is not necessary to obtain the texts. A trial subpoena is sufficient. 18 U.S.C. § 2703(b)(1)(B)(i). Text messages are discoverable and may be also produced by consent from the sender or recipient without violating the SCA. <u>In re Facebook, Inc.</u>, 923 F. Supp. 2d 1204 (N.D. Cal. 2012).

The SCA does not preclude in camera review, or an order to lodge the records for in camera review, and it is not a basis for this Court to accept review of this case at this time.

# 2. Lindquist Did Not Have A Reasonable Expectation of Privacy in the Records at Issue Here.

The Fourth Amendment arguments pre-suppose that Lindquist had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the records at issue here. As explained above, he did not. He was on notice in 2011 when he sent and received the 16 work-related texts and sent and received the calls he concedes may be work related that the records here could be public records and that any device on which they were stored could require agency access to retrieve them.

Any constitutional privacy interest further depends upon a subjective and reasonable expectation of privacy in private affairs. **State v. Goucher**, 124 Wn.2d 778, 881 P. 2d 210 (1994). Matters of legitimate public interest outweigh offensive public scrutiny of private life. AGO 1983 No. 9, citing

to **Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe**, 90 Wn.2d 123, 580 P.2d 246 (1978). The "special needs" of a government workplace justifies a warrantless examination of digital communications under search and seizure laws. City of Ontario, Cal. v. Quon, 560 U.S. 746, 130 S. Ct. 2619, 2630 (2010). Detective Nissen is seeking work-related text communications of the elected prosecutor. Setting aside the fact that privacy is not a stand alone exemption and Petitioners have not identified an applicable exemption, under the definition of privacy in the PRA, the text content would have to be highly offensive information that is truly secret and of no legitimate concern to the public in order to apply the definition of privacy under the PRA. RCW 42.56.050. Van Buren v. Miller, 22 Wn. App. 836, 592 P.2d 671, review denied, 92 Wn.2d 1021(1979); Cowles Publ'g Co. v. State Patrol, 109 Wn.2d 712, 721, 748 P.2d 597 9 (1988); Seattle Firefighters Union Local No. 27 v. Hollister, 48 Wn. App. 129, 135, 737 P.2d 1302, review denied, 108 Wn.2d 1033 (1987); Bellevue John Does 1-11v. Bellevue Sch. Dist., 164 Wn.2d 199, 212-12, 189 P.3d 139 (2008)

An elected prosecutor's work-related texts cannot meet the definition for an invasion of privacy, statutory or constitutional. Public officials are held to a high standard because the public has the right to judge an official's performance and safeguard against corruption. **King County v.** 

**Sheehan**, 114 Wn. App. 325, 57 P.3d 307 (2002). That is precisely the purpose of Detective Nissen's request. The public has a legitimate interest in the content of those work-related messages, and the elected prosecutor similarly has no legitimate expectation of privacy in the content of those work-related texts, and certainly not in August 2011 when these texts were sent and received.

In camera review provides an appropriate safeguard to address any legitimate privacy concerns of Lindquist. In camera review is the process identified in the civil rules for addressing privilege claims. CR 26(b)(6). In camera review is designed to effectively enforce the constitutional right of a plaintiff to civil discovery. King v. Olympic Pipeline Co., 104 Wn. App. 338, 362, 16 P.3d 45 (2000), citing Wash. Const. art. I § 10. In camera review is essential to addressing the constitutional interests at stake. Snedigar v. Hoddersen, 114 Wn.2d 153, 786 P.2d 781 (1990). In camera review is proper in a public records case. RCW 42.56.550, Limstrom v. Ladenburg, 136 Wn.2d 595, 963 P.2d 869 (1998). ('The only way that a court can accurately determine what portions, if any, of the file are exempt from disclosure is by an in camera review of the files").

Petitioners have not established grounds for review by this Court of this case, on this record, at this time. Division Two appropriately has remanded for further fact finding and an in camera review of the records at issue. That process should be allowed to occur. Review should be denied.

#### IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Detective Nissen asks that this Court deny the Petitions for Review.